A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND

COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Mitchell Kane, plaintiff in the trial court and appellant in the

Court of Appeals, petitions for review of the March 27, 2017

unpublished decision in Mitchell Kane V: Bethany Communitv

Church and Jonathan Hilton. [Appendix A] The Court of Appeals

denied a Motion for Reconsideration on April 19, 2017. [Appendix

B]

The claim against the City of Seattle has been dismissed.

Jonathan Hilton remains a defendant and the case was stayed

pending appellate review

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. What evidence of the degree of a driver's intoxication is

necessary to establish on summary judgment that visual

obstruction of a stop sign could not have been found to be a

contributing cause of the driver's failure to stop for the stop sign?

2. Does the holding in Atherton Condominium Apartment

Owners Association v. Blume Development Company, 115Wn.2d

506 (1990), that "we do not consider the nuisance claim apart from

the negligence claim" deny a party the right to allege in its
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Complaint that unlawful obstruction of a stop sign is (1) negligence

and also (2) a violation of the nuisance statute? (ROW 7.48.010)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Summarv Judgment Issue

The subject traffic accident happened around 11:30 on a

July 2014 night, in the Green Lake neighborhood of Seattle. (CP

136) Defendant driver Jonathan Hilton failed to obey a visually

obstructed stop sign and seriously injured appellant Mitchell Kane

who was riding home from work on his moped. (CP 136) Kane

was protected from cross traffic by a stop sign facing Hilton at the

intersection of Stone Avenue North and North 80th Street. (CP 136)

Driver Hilton was unfamiliar with the neighborhood. (CP 295,

296, 297) His driving was further complicated by two unlawful acts.

First, he was impaired to an uncertain degree with a blood alcohol

reading of .11. (CP 492-498) Second, the stop sign he ran was

visually obstructed by the untrimmed branches of a street tree

owned by respondent Bethany Community Church. (CP 493)

1. Evidence of the Stop Sign Obstruction

Evidence established that the stop sign was obstructed by

tree branches that violated both the Seattle Municipal Code (SMC

2.



10.52.030 and 15.43.040) and WSDOT minimum standards. (CP

494, 495)
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HIDDEN STOP SIGN (CP 464)

Declarations from competing experts each acknowledged

the hazard caused by the branches obstructing the stop sign.

Plaintiffs expert said the sign was not visible from the distance at

which Hilton would have needed to brake to avoid the collision. (CP

494, 495) An opposing expert admitted measurements showed

3.



that an emergency stop was necessary to stop within the available

sight distance from the sign. (Decision p. 5, 1. 1)

Hilton testified that he slammed on his brakes as soon as he

saw the sign, but too late to avoid the accident. (CP 294-295, 297)

There was no evidence or argument that Hilton would not

have stopped for the stop sign had it been visible for the distance

required by law.

2, Evidence of the Effect of the Alcohol

As noted in the Court of Appeals' decision, evidence of the

effect of alcohol on Hilton's driving ability included that he had

driven carefully and obeyed all traffic signs while driving more than

15 miles through a combination of residential and commercial
r

streets and on the freeway. (CP 348-349) He had last properly

stopped for a stop sign no more than two blocks before the

accident. (CP 349-350) The results of field sobriety tests were

mixed. "Walk and Turn" and "One Leg Stand" tests were within

normal limits and Hilton's balance was excellent." (CP 66) Verbal

responses were affected by his stuttering speech impediment. (CP

65)
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3. Evidence Relied Upon to Grant Summary Judgment

To eliminate the tree branches as a contributing cause of

Hilton's failure to stop, the Court of Appeals' decision relied entirely

on variations of Hilton's statement that "I didn't see the stop sign

until I got to it; I remember trees being there but currently have no

recollection of whether the trees obscured my vision." (Decision p.

3. 1. 6-8)

The Court of Appeals pointed out that Hilton's "lack of

recollection" of the branches was the deciding factor in the trial

courts ruling. The decision explained:

The trial court granted the motion based on Hilton's
testimony that "he didn't know if the trees obstructed
his vision and he had no clear memory that they did, in
fact obstruct his vision."

(Decision, p. 4, 1. 7-9)

The Court of Appeals adopted the same grounds for

summary judgment dismissal. The decision relied on Hilton's "lack

of recollection" as the only evidence cited in support of summary

judgment. This is both remarkable and unmistakable when reading

the two full pages of the decision that are devoted entirely to

repeating and analyzing evidence showing Hilton lacked

5.



recollection of whether or not the trees obstructed his vision of the

stop sign. (Decision p. 3, 1. 4 through p. 4, 1. 2 and p. 5, 1. 7 through

p. 6, 1. 5) On that basis alone the Court of Appeals concluded, "we

do not know that the diminished visibility of the stop sign was a

contributory cause of Hilton's failure to stop." (Decision, p. 7, 1. 17-

19) The "lack of recollection" of defendant Hilton is not affirmative

proof that overwhelms contrary evidence of the degree of

obstruction.

The Right to Plead Violation of the Nuisance Statute

A month before the summary judgment motion was heard,

and eight months before the trial date, the trial court denied Kane's

motion to amend his complaint to add an allegation that the

obstructing branches also constituted a statutory public nuisance.

(CP 198-200) The Order Denying Motion to Amend failed to state

the trial court's reasoning (as required by Watson v. Emard, 165

Wn. App. 694,702 (2011)). However, it was Bethany's argument

that the case of Atherton Condominium Apartment Owners

Association v. Blume Development Companv, 115 Wn.2d 506

(1990), ruled out pleading a statutory nuisance claim in addition to

a negligence claim because of the Atherton holding that "In
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Washington, 'a negligence claim presented in the garb of nuisance'

need not be considered apart from the negligence claim." (Brief of

Respondent, p. 24).^ The Court of Appeals did not address this

issue because the subsequent dismissal of the complaint made the

nuisance claim futile. (Decision, p. 8, 1. 10)

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Contrary to Supreme

Court Decisions on Burden of Proof for Summary

Judgment

The Court of Appeals' decision fails to apply the burden of

proof required of a moving party to establish a right to judgment as

a matter of law.

Summary judgment is appropriate only if "there is no
genuine issue as to any material fact: and "the moving
party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law" CR
56c. All facts must be considered in the light most

favorable to the nonmoving party. Vallandigham, 154
Wn.2d at 26. Summary Judgment is granted only if
given the evidence, reasonable persons could reach only
one conclusion. ID. The moving party bears the burden
of showing that there is no genuine issue of material

fact. ID. If this burden is satisfied, the nonmoving party
must present evidence demonstrating material fact. ID.
Summary judgment is appropriate if the nonmoving
party fails to do so.

Watson V. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391,395 (2014)
[Emphasis Added]

^ Given the date of the Order, the ruling could not have been based on grounds
of prejudice or of futility.



Bethany' failed to meet this burden. Bethany's only proof of

entitlement to summary judgment was that: (1) Hilton's driving was

affected to an unknown degree by a blood alcohol level of .11 and

(2) that Hilton could not recall whether the tree branches were the

reason he failed to see the stop sign sooner. This does not even

meet a moving party's initial burden on summary judgment.

As to the alcohol - Hilton's judgment and reaction time were

undoubtedly affected to some degree and he is responsible for that

negligence. However, individual reactions to alcohol vary to such a

degree that blood alcohol tests alone do not, as matter of law,

establish the degree of impairment.

"A person's sobriety must be judged by the way she
appeared to those around her, not by what a blood
alcohol test may subsequently reveal."

Wilson V. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434 (1982).

It is uncontested that the only stop sign that Hilton did not obey in

more than 15 miles of city driving was the one that was unlawfully

obscured by Bethany's tree branches. This alone supports an

inference that obstruction of this particular sign contributed to

Hilton's failure to see the sign and stop as directed. There is good
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reason to conclude that alcohol was not the sole cause of Hilton's

failure to stop.

As to Hilton's personal lack of recollection of whether or not

the branches obstructed his view, this is not proof one way or the

other. At best, he simply did not recall. This "evidence" does not

reach the level to absolve Bethany as a matter of law.

When the facts are "considered in the light most favorable to

the non-moving party" Kane has shown he has a fundamental right

to a jury trial on the issue of Bethany' liability.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Deprived Appellant of

His Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial on a Material

issue of Fact

The object and function of the summary judgment
procedure is to avoid a useless trial, however, a trial is
not useless, but is absolutely necessary where there is a
genuine issue as to any material fact.

Balisev. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199 (1963).

The Court of Appeals' analysis skipped over the initial

requirement that Bethany prove, as a matter of law, that no

reasonable jury could find that obstruction of the stop sign was a

contributing cause of Hilton's failure to stop.
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Even if Bethany had made an initial showing sufficient to

support summary judgment, the Court of Appeals decision provides

a solid list of contrary evidence to defeat summary judgment. The

decision finds:

As evidence that the obscuring branches caused the
accident, Kane submits the following: Hilton said that
he did not see the sign in time to stop; Hilton's
passenger stated that the tree blocked the sign; an
expert witness presented by Kane said that the sign was
not visible from the distance at which Hilton would

have needed to brake to avoid the collision; another
expert's measurements showed that an emergency stop
was necessary to stop within sight distance. There was
evidence that Hilton, notwithstanding his intoxication,
had just successfully driven over 15 miles through a mix
of residential and commercial streets and on the

freeway and had stopped at all stop signs, including one
just 2 blocks before the accident intersection.

Decision p. 4, I. 20-24

Standing alone, this passage from the Court of Appeals'

decision lists solid evidence that the effect of the visual obstruction

of the stop sign is a material issue of fact. It is a factual issue that

cannot be resolved by Bethany's evidence that (1) Hilton's driving

was impaired to an uncertain degree and (2) that Hilton did not

recall one way or the other whether the branches were a reason for

his delayed observation of the sign.

10.



In this case, a trial is "not useless, but is absolutely

necessary." Kane has a constitutional right to have this issue

decided by a jury.

Clarification is Needed on Whether a Complaint Can Contain

Both a Negligence Claim and a Statutory Nuisance Claim

The trial court denied the Motion to Amend the Coplaint to

add a nuisance claim. This was apparently based on Bethany's

argument of the holding in Atherton Condominium Apartment

Owners Association v. Blume Development Companv. 115Wn.2d

506, 527 (1990), that "In Washington a 'negligence claim presented

in the garb of nuisance' need not be considered apart from the

negligence claim".

The trial court's action in this case illustrates how the

Atherton holding can be taken out of context and misapplied.

Official comments to WPI 380.00 touch briefly on avoiding

confusion from the Atherton language when instructing a jury, but

gives no guidance on pleading both negligence and nuisance on

the same facts.

The trial court's ruling failed to recognize that a negligence

claim requires proof of an unreasonable act. However, a nuisance

11.



claim can result in strict liability. Further, a nuisance claim also

supports equitable relief. (RCW 7.48.250)

Peterson v. King County, 45 Wn.2d 860, 863 (1954) included

the following observation 55 years ago:

The attempt frequently made to distinguish between
nuisance and negligence, for example, is based on a
mistaken emphasis upon what the defendant has done
rather than the result which has followed, and

overlooks the well established fact that negligence is
merely one type of conduct which may give rise to a
nuisance." Prosser, Torts, 553 (1941).

The language in Atherton should be revisited and placed in

context to avoid the literal application to pleading practice argued

by Bethany in this case.

E. CONCLUSION

Appellant asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the

Court of Appeals' decision, to reverse that opinion, to remand this

case for trial after allowing amendment of the Complaint to allege

both negligence and nuisance claims.

12.