I. 	INTRODUCTION 

There is no reason for this Court to accept review of this case. In 

fact, appellant’s Petition for Review doesn’t even cite RAP 13.4, let alone 

address the considerations outlined in that dispositive rule. Instead, 

appellant’s Petition for Review is a rehash of the misleading arguments 

that appellant made before the trial court and the Court of Appeals. Both 

of those courts saw through appellant’s arguments and there is no reason 

(or basis) for this Court to hear those same arguments. 

This case arises out of an intersection collision in the Green Lake 

neighborhood. Appellant Mitchell Kane was injured because Jonathan 

Hilton was driving drunk—with his drinking buddy in the car—and failed 

to stop or yield (as he was required to do) before crossing North 80th 

Street (a major arterial) on Stone Avenue North. Hilton pled guilty to 

Vehicular Assault. 

Unfortunately, Kane brought unfounded claims against Bethany 

Community Church (a property owner near the intersection) claiming 

Hilton’s failure to stop or yield at the intersection was somehow caused by 

a small tree located more than 40 feet north of the stop sign on southbound 

Stone Avenue North. As the trial court and Court of Appeals determined, 

this claim is unsupported by the facts: 
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CP 378. 

More importantly, Kane’s liability theory against Bethany was not 

supported by Hilton—who testified he does not know why he failed to 

stop or yield. 

Q. 	As you sit here today, you cannot testify with any 
degree of certainty that as you were sitting in your car 
driving southbound on Stone approaching 80th that there 
were branches or trees or foliage of any sort obstructing the 
stop sign leading you to not stop; is that a correct 
statement? 

MR. NICHOLS: Same objection. 

A. 	Well, yeah, I would say it’s a correct statement. CP 
42-43 at 64:19-65:1. 

*** 

Q. 	(By Mr. Nichols) So you have no recollection of 
whether they obscured your vision, is that your testimony? 
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A. 	Yes. CP 41 at 53:12-15. 

In other words, Hilton (the only person who would know) cannot 

say what caused his failure to stop or yield other than his undisputed blood 

alcohol content of .116 g/100mL. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of Kane’s 

claims against Bethany on summary judgment. Appellant argues (as he 

did before the Court of Appeals) that Bethany should have been required 

to prove that Hilton’s intoxication was the sole cause of the accident. But 

that argument completely misses the point of Bethany’s summary 

judgment motion and the decisions by the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals correctly confirmed that Kane could not rely 

on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues 

remained on the issue of proximate cause. Seven Gables Corp. v. 

MGM/UA Entertainment Co., 106 Wn.2d 1, 721 P.2d 1 (1986). The Court 

of Appeals (correctly) found that Kane’s speculation that had the stop sign 

been fully visible (rather than mostly visible), Hilton might have seen the 

stop sign, might have reacted to the stop sign, might have applied the 

brakes, might have come to a stop at the intersection of 80th and Stone 

Avenue North, and might not have hit Kane, was insufficient to carry 

plaintiff’s burden of proof on causation. See Little v. Countrywood Homes 
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Inc., 132 Wn. App. 777, 779-780, 133 P.3d 944, review denied, 158 

Wn.2d 1017 (2006); Kristjanson v. City of Seattle, 25 Wn. App. 324, 606 

P.2d 283 (1980). Because none of the RAP 13.4 criteria are present here, 

this Court should deny review. 

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The respondent is Bethany Community Church (“Bethany”). 

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Respondent asks this Court to deny appellant Kane’s Petition for 

Review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming Bethany’s dismissal on 

summary judgment in Kane v. City of Seattle, 198 Wn. App. 1024, 2017 

WL 1137130 (March 27, 2017). The Court of Appeals denied Kane’s 

Motion for Reconsideration on April 19, 2017. 

IV. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals correctly applied the facts of 

this case to well-settled Washington law. The Court of Appeals’ decision 

should be affirmed. 

1. 	Kane was injured because Hilton ran a stop sign. In 

support of his claims against Bethany, Kane speculated that Hilton failed 

to stop because branches from a small tree owned by Bethany partially 

blocked the stop sign. However, Hilton testified that he had no idea why 

he failed to stop. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s dismissal 
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of Kane’s negligence claim against Bethany because Kane’s speculation 

could not meet his burden of proof on causation. Should this Court deny 

Kane’s Petition for Review because the Court of Appeals’ decision is (1) 

not in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals, (2) 

does not involve a constitutional issue, and (3) does not involve an issue of 

substantial public interest, as required by RAP 13.4(b)? 

2. 	In Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass’n Bd. of Dirs. v. 

Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 527, 799 P.2d 250 (1990), this Court 

held a negligence claim presented as a nuisance claim need not be 

considered apart from the negligence claim. Here, Kane alleges he was 

injured because Bethany was negligent in maintaining a small tree. The 

Court of Appeals affirmed the order denying Kane’s motion to amend his 

complaint to add a nuisance claim based on the same facts as his 

negligence claim. Should this Court deny Kane’s Petition for Review 

because Kane fails to offer any grounds justifying review under RAP 

13.4? 

V. 	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 	Facts. 

At 11:30 p.m. on July 9, 2014, Jonathan Hilton failed to stop 

before trying to cross a busy arterial and caused Mitchell Kane (who had 

the right of way) to hit him from the right. CP 28-32. Hilton was driving 
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south on Stone Avenue, a small neighborhood street, and Kane was 

driving his moped east on North 80th  Street, a major arterial. CP 35 at 

5:22-24; CP 53-54. It is undisputed that Kane had the right of way. 

Hilton’s approach to the intersection was controlled by a stop sign and a 

stop bar on the pavement. Id.; CP 57. 

Hilton knew he was approaching an intersection. CP 37 at 31:22-

32:5. He also admitted he did not slow down or otherwise take any 

precautions before entering the intersection. CP 38 at 35:9-36:1. 

Police officers arrived on the scene and immediately noticed that 

Hilton’s speech was “thick and slurred” and that his “pupils were dilated.” 

CP 64. Hilton failed a series of field sobriety tests and was arrested for 

suspicion of DUI. CP 53-54. A later blood draw showed that his blood 

alcohol content was .116g/100mL (above the legal limit of .08). CP 45 at 

86:8-87:4. On May 14, 2015, Hilton pled guilty to Vehicular Assault. 

CP 71. 

The first person to try to claim tree branches might have obstructed 

Hilton’s view of the stop sign was Kane’s counsel. But, Kane’s counsel’s 

conjecture on that issue is not supported by Hilton (the drunk driver) or by 

any other evidence. In his interrogatory answers, Hilton admitted: 

...I didn’t see the stop sign until I got to it; I remember 
trees being there but currently have no recollection of 
whether they obscured my vision. 
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CP 79. During his deposition, Hilton repeatedly admitted he had no idea 

why he did not see the stop sign. 

Q. 	Let me ask you this, the last two sentences of your 
answer says, “I was driving to drop off Sean at his house 
when the accident occurred. I didn’t see the stop sign until 
I got to it. I remember trees being there but currently have 
no recollection of whether they obscured my vision.” Is 
that correct? 

A. 	Yes. CP 50 at 13:11-18. 

*** 

Q. 	So is it fair to say as we sit here today, you don’t 
know why you missed the stop sign on July 9, 
2014? 

MR. NICHOLS: Objection, asked and answered. 

A. 	Yeah. I would say it’s safe to say that I don’t know 
why. CP 40 at 52:16-20. 

*** 

Q. 	So what I am asking you is as we sit here today, 
your answer is still currently, “I have no 
recollection of whether they obscured my vision.” 
Is that accurate? 

A. 	Yes. CP 41 at 53:12-15. 

*** 

Q. 	Mr. Hilton, I have heard you today and at your prior 
testimony making a lot of statements about what 
you believe and what you assume and it’s very 
natural for us in conversation to want to be able to 
provide an answer. But, unfortunately, with 
testimony we need a definitive answer one way or 
another. So as you sit here today, you do not know 
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what caused you to not notice the stop sign in time; 
is that a correct statement? 

MR. NICHOLS: Object to the form. 

A. 	Yeah. CP 42 at 63:22-64:6. 

*** 

Q. 	As you sit here today, you cannot testify with any 
degree of certainty that as you were sitting in your 
car driving southbound on Stone approaching 80th 
that there were branches or trees or foliage of any 
sort obstructing the stop sign leading you to not 
stop; is that a correct statement? 

MR. NICHOLS: Same objection. 

A. 	Well, yeah, I would say it’s a correct statement. CP 
42-43 at 64:19-65:1. 

*** 

Q. 	(By Mr. Nichols) So you have no recollection of 
whether they obscured your vision, is that your 
testimony? 

A. 	Yes. CP 44 at 83:6-9. 

The Seattle Police Department investigated and photographed the 

accident scene that night. CP 379, 381. The police photographs show the 

stop sign as it would have appeared to Hilton as he approached the 

intersection. Among other things, Hilton’s car’s headlights would have 

caused the stop sign to reflect brightly in the darkness.1  CP 37 at 30:1-3. 

1 Kane cannot provide any insight into why Hilton failed to stop or otherwise yield to 
him because, among other reasons, he has no memory of the accident. CP 86. 
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Also, as part of his investigation, Detective Bacon reviewed the in-car 

video of a responding officer which depicts the same southbound approach 

on Stone Avenue North approaching North 80th  Street—the same 

approach taken by Hilton an hour earlier. CP 570-571, at ¶ 7. The stop 

sign was visible from a distance of 120 feet. Id. 

CP 381. 
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CP 378. Even Hilton admits the stop sign is clearly visible. CP 38 at 

35:2-7. 

B. 	Procedural History. 

1. 	The Trial Court’s Ruling on Summary Judgment. 

Kane filed this lawsuit in November of 2014. CP 1-3. On May 28, 

2015, Bethany and the City of Seattle notified Kane they intended to file 

for summary judgment. CP 141. On September 2, 2015, Kane moved to 

amend his complaint to add a claim for nuisance. CP 92-94. Relying on 

Washington law, which holds a plaintiff may not pursue claims of private 

or public nuisance on what is in essence a claim sounding in negligence, 

Bethany opposed Kane’s motion.2  The trial court appropriately denied 

Kane’s motion to amend. CP 198-199. 

On September 29, 2015, Bethany and the City of Seattle filed 

motions for summary judgment. CP 8-20; CP 544-567. At Kane’s 

request, those motions were set over until November 2015. CP 118-126. 

On November 13, 2015, following oral argument, the Honorable Jean 

Rietschel ruled from the bench and dismissed Kane’s claims against 

Bethany and the City of Seattle. CP 529-530. The trial court ruled that, 

although there was some evidence that the stop sign was partially 

2 Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass’n Bd of Directors, 115 Wn.2d at 527 
(“[i]n those situations where the alleged nuisance is the result of the defendant's alleged 
negligent conduct, rules of negligence are applied.”). 
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obstructed, Hilton’s testimony never deviated: he has no recollection of 

whether the tree obstructed his vision the night of the accident.3  RP 39 at 

lines 15-16. Judge Rietschel ruled that Kane had failed to meet his burden 

of proof on causation. RP 41. 

Judge Rietschel also ruled that Kane’s duty analysis was flawed. 

Kane’s expert analyzed Hilton’s ability to stop factoring in Hilton’s 

delayed reflexes (due to his intoxication) and his travel in excess of the 

speed limit, and concluded Hilton did not have enough time to stop. RP 

40:9-12. Conspicuously absent was testimony that a sober driver traveling 

the speed limit would have had difficulty seeing and obeying the stop sign. 

The trial court correctly concluded Bethany did not owe Kane a duty to 

protect him against a drunk speeding driver. RP 40-41. 

2. 	The Court of Appeals’ Opinion. 

On March 27, 2107, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s 

dismissal of Kane’s claims against Bethany. 2017 WL 1137130, at * 3. 

The Court of Appeals reasoned “factual causation may become a question 

3 Kane presented the trial court with the same deposition testimony relied upon in his 
appellate brief and argued Hilton had admitted the tree branches obstructed his vision 
of the stop sign. App. Brief, pp. 7-8. This is not correct. The testimony consists of an 
exchange between Hilton and Kane’s counsel regarding a photo Hilton had never seen. 
The trial court and Court of Appeals correctly found the cited testimony related 
specifically to the photo, but that the thrust of Hilton’s testimony never changed: he 
didn’t know that, in fact, the tree branches obstructed his vision. RP 39; Kane, WL 
1137130, at *2. 
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of law for the court if the facts, and inferences from them, are plain and 

not subject to reasonable doubt or a difference of opinion.” Id. at *2 

(citing Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc., 132 Wn. App. 777, 780, 133 

P.3d 944, review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1017 (2006) (citing Daugert v. 

Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257, 704 P.2d 600 (1985)). The Court of 

Appeals concluded Kane’s speculation regarding why Hilton failed to stop 

at the stop sign was insufficient to carry Kane’s burden of proof on 

causation, because “Hilton repeatedly testified he did not know why he 

failed to stop.” Kane, 2017 WL 1137130, at * 2. 

The Court of Appeals also ruled that the trial court did not abuse 

its discretion denying Kane’s request to add a claim of nuisance. 

Applying Washington law, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled Kane’s 

allegations did not give rise to a separate nuisance claim. 2017 WL 

1137130, at * 3 (citing Hostetler v. Ward, 41 Wn. App. 343, 360, 704 P.2d 

1193 (1985), review denied, 106 Wn.2d 1004 (1986); Atherton 

Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass’n, 115 Wn.2d 506, 799 P.2d 250 

(1990). 

VI. 	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

RAP 13.4(b) specifies that review will be accepted only if (1) the 

Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme 

Court or another Court of Appeals decision; (2) if it involves a significant 
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question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions; or (3) if it 

involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). 

Kane’s Petition for Review doesn’t even cite to RAP 13.4 and 

wholly fails to offer adequate grounds and supporting argument to justify 

this Court accepting review of the Court of Appeals’ straightforward 

decision. This Court should deny Kane’s Petition for Review. 

A. 	The Court of Appeals’ Decision is Not in Conflict with Any 
Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Decision. 

The Court of Appeals decision here does not conflict with any 

Court of Appeals or Supreme Court decision. In fact, it is consistent with 

Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014)—the case 

cited by Kane. As Kane correctly notes: 

[t]he moving party bears the burden of showing that there is 
no genuine issue of material fact. If this burden is satisfied, 
the nonmoving party must present evidence demonstrating 
a material issue of fact. Summary judgment is appropriate 
if the nonmoving party fails to do so. 

Watson v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 395 (2005) (quoting from 

Petitioner’s Pet. for Review, p. 7.)4  

In order to prove a claim for negligence, Kane must establish the 

existence of a duty, a breach of that duty, and a resulting injury. Marshall 

4 The standard is reiterated in another case cited by appellant for a different proposition. 
See Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Association, 115 Wn.2d at 516 (if 
nonmoving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish an element essential to 
case, court should grant summary judgment). 
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v. Bally’s Pacwest, Inc., 94 Wn. App. 372, 378, 972 P.2d 475 (1999). Of 

course, for liability to attach, the alleged breach must be the cause  of the 

injury. “Even if negligence is clearly established, the [defendant] may not 

be held liable unless their negligence caused the accident.” Id. A verdict 

on causation cannot be based on an unsupported theory or speculation. 

Marshall, 94 Wn. App. at 378; See also Little v. Countrywood Homes, 

Inc., 132 Wn. App. 777, 780, 133 P.3d 944 (2006), review denied, 158 

Wn.2d 1017 (2006). 

Here, Kane failed to present prima facie evidence of causation. 

Instead, Kane relied on speculation—arguing that, given additional sight 

distance, Hilton might have reacted differently and the accident might 

have been avoided. But, speculation cannot create a material issue of fact. 

Little, 132 Wn. App. at 780 (summary judgment affirmed for lack of proof 

that the accident was more probably than not caused by defendant’s 

violations of safety standards); see also Cho v. City of Seattle, 185 Wn. 

App. 10, 341 P.3d 309 (2014) review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1007 (2015) 

(speculation or conclusory statements are insufficient to withstand 

summary judgment); Kristjanson, 25 Wn. App. at 327 (summary judgment 

affirmed because the plaintiff could not show defendant’s actions 

proximately caused his injuries); Marshall, 94 Wn. App. at 378 (“a verdict 

[on causation] cannot be founded on mere theory or speculation”). 
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In addition, contrary to appellant’s argument (rejected below), the 

burden was never on Bethany to prove why Hilton failed to stop. As the 

Court of Appeals confirmed, the burden was on Kane (the plaintiff) to 

present prima facie evidence that the tree’s branches were the reason 

Hilton failed to yield or stop at the intersection. On that issue, Kane could 

only rely on speculation and argumentative assertions. The Court of 

Appeals appropriately dismissed Kane’s claim because speculation is 

insufficient to create a material issue of fact. 

B. 	This Case Does Not Involve a Significant Constitutional 
Question Requiring Review Because Courts at All 
Levels Routinely Dismiss Claims on Summary 
Judgment. 

This Court has previously confirmed that, when, as here, there are 

no issues of material fact a summary judgment ruling does not improperly 

infringe on a litigant’s constitutional right to a jury trial. LaMon v. Butler, 

112 Wn.2d 193, 199 n. 5 (1989), certiorari denied, 110 S.Ct. 61, 493 U.S. 

814; see also Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015). In 

short, there is no basis for this Court to take up review of this case 

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). 
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C. 	The Court of Appeals Appropriately Affirmed the Trial 
Court’s Denial of Kane’s Motion to Amend. 

Finally, in connection with appellant’s claim that he should have 

been permitted to assert a nuisance cause of action, this Court previously 

held that: 

In Washington, a “negligence claim presented in the garb 
of nuisance” need not be considered apart from the 
negligence claim. Hosteller v. Ward, 41 Wash.App. 343, 
360, 704 P.2d 1193 (1985), review denied 106 Wn.2d 1004 
(1986). 

... 

Owners’ contention that Atherton is a nuisance is premised 
on their argument that Blume was negligent in failing to 
construct Atherton in compliance with the applicable 
building code. In other words, even if Atherton does 
constitute a nuisance, the nuisance would be solely the 
result of Blume’s alleged negligent construction. 
Accordingly, we do not consider the nuisance claim apart 
from the negligence claim, discussed supra. We conclude 
that the trial court properly dismissed Owner’s nuisance 
claim. 

Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. 

Blume Development Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 527-528, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). 

Contrary to appellant’s argument, there is no ambiguity in this 

Court’s decision that “[i]n those situations where the alleged nuisance is 

the result of the defendant’s alleged negligent conduct, rules of negligence 

are applied.” Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 527. Moreover, the official 
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comments to the WPI 380.00 support and reiterate this Court’s ruling in 

Atherton. 

Practitioners should be aware that a nuisance claim that is 
simply a restated negligence claim need not be the subject 
of a separate instruction on nuisance. A party's 
characterization of the theory of recovery is also not 
binding upon the court. It is the nature of the claim that 
controls. Accordingly, the trial court's refusal to give a 
proposed instruction on nuisance that was based upon the 
same omission to perform a duty that was alleged to 
constitute negligence has been held to be proper under 
Washington law. See, e.g., Atherton Condominium 
Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume 
Development Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 527, 799 P.2d 250 
(1990); Kaech v. Lewis County Pub. Util. Dist., 106 
Wn.App. 260, 23 P.3d 529 (2001); cf. Albin v. National 
Bank of Commerce, 60 Wn.2d 745, 753, 375 P.2d 487 
(1962). 

WPI 380.00. 

Here, Kane’s only claim against Bethany was a negligence claim. 

Kane alleged that Bethany negligently failed to maintain a tree located 

forty-one feet north of a stop sign and that the branches from that tree 

were what caused Hilton to blow the stop sign—a claim that was not 

supported by Hilton’s testimony. CP 44 at 83:6-9. Because Kane relied 

on identical allegations to support both his negligence claim and his 

proposed nuisance claim, those claims are inseparable. Following 

Washington law, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court’s 
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denial of Kane’s motion to amend to add a futile nuisance claim. 2017 

WL 1137130, *4. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

None of Kane’s assertions in his Petition for Review meet the RAP 

13.4 considerations for this Court’s acceptance of review. Based on the 

preceding response, Bethany’s underlying Response Brief, and the Court 

of Appeals correct and well-reasoned decision, Respondent Bethany